ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Berkeley County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL C. ANDES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-204706

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing the State's psychological expert to testify about violence and reports of sexual assaults in domestic relationships where she did not examine or have any understanding of the facts of the case; where she repeatedly used the term "sexual assault" to refer to subjective, unverified reports and did not distinguish the term's legal meaning; where she testified to a few general dynamics of trauma in domestic relationships but did not offer specialized or technical information; and where the effect of her testimony was calculated to reconcile the unexpected behavior of the accuser in the minds of the jurors?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Berkeley County grand jury on one count of first-degree criminal sexual conduct. R. 731 – R. 732. On November 28, 2011, Appellant proceeded to trial before a jury and the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Grover Seaton, IV, and Anne Williams and Ben Shelton represented the State. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on December 2, 2011, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 708, ll. 12-17. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant to thirty years imprisonment, provided a suspended balance after twelve years with five years of probation. R. 727, ll. 11-16. Appellant was also to be placed on the sex offender registry. R. 727, ll. 18-19.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

**THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE'S PSYCHOLOGICAL EXPERT TO TESTIFY BECAUSE NONE OF HER TESTIMONY WAS HELPFUL TO THE JURY.**

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the trial in this case, the State called an expert in the field of “psychology and in the field of impact of trauma in domestic violence” to explain the curious behavior of LeAnne Blanche, who was making an accusation of sexual assault. R. 401, ll. 6 – 10. The expert witness knew nothing about the case itself and had met neither Ms. Blanche nor Appellant Michaels Christopher Andes, whom she was accusing. R. 413, ll. 13-22; R. 414, ll. 23-24. Nevertheless, the State had to provide answers to a number of glaring questions in its theory, like how could Ms. Blanche accuse Appellant of sexual assault when the two plainly had a long, intimate history together?

Q: What is the power and control dynamic in a relationship that has domestic violence?

A: Within domestic violence relationships it is not necessarily all just about the physical assaults that might go on. There's a dynamic of power and control a lot of times in these relationships. . . .

Q: And how common is sexual assault in domestic violence relationships?

A: When folks think of sexual assault . . . what we more commonly think . . . is that someone gets raped, pulled into bushes and that does occur in about twenty percent of sexual assault cases; however, the rest . . . usually [occur] by someone who the victim actually knows. So it's more likely that someone will be assaulted by someone that they know than by a stranger.

In twenty percent of sexual assault cases, it typically occurs within a relationship with a husband, ex-husband, ex-boyfriend, boyfriend, sort of relationship.

R. 403, l. 19 – R. 404, l. 25. The State also sought a possible explanation for how Ms. Blanche could be so indecisive about making a report to the police.

Q: Is there [anything] unusual about a victim not reporting just immediately?

A: Uh, no, women respond in a lot of ways. Some could pick up the phone but . . . a lot of women don't necessarily do that. There are a variety of reasons. Some women like, you know, just like wrapping their heads around it, especially if it was someone that they knew. Typically, when a woman knows the perpetrator, they are less likely to report it to authorities. So you know, there is a lot that goes on with their thinking about it and [what] to do.

R. 408, ll. 6-18.

Q: [I]s it sometimes difficult for some victims to come to a decision to actually pick up the phone and press charges?

A: Yes. Both in literature and in my clinical experience, obviously it is difficult for women to want to make a report to rto press charges for a host of reasons. The first thing is they may have a relationship with that person. They may actually feel – first of all they may not be able to come to grip with the terms of what it means, what happened. If it is a person that they trusted, that they have feelings for, sometimes they worry about what is going to happen to the person. . . .

Finally, the State solicited hypotheses as to why Ms. Blanche would stay in constant contact with Appellant after the alleged assault occurred.

Q: Is it unusual for a perpetrator to contact [a] victim, even after a rape?

...

A: In a domestic violence relationship, a lot of times when [women] get assaulted in some way and they have a relationship with that person, they will try to make sense of what happened. A lot of times a person afterwards apologizes, promises that they will change. So they are trying to understand. So it is not uncommon for a woman to

go back into a relationship when they had been assaulted. Or for them to make contact.

R. 412, l. 14 – R. 413, l. 10. During the course of the examination, trial counsel objected three times to relevancy, and each time the court overruled the objection. R. 402, ll. 10-20; R. 403, ll. 7-10; R. 412, ll. 16-25. He tried to neutralize the testimony on cross-examination.

Q: There is no average person, according to your testimony. You've got a wide range, you've got an entire range. Anything is possible?

A: Correct.

Q: And amongst things that are possible, have you ever met someone who had lied about an assault?

A: Uh, I might have met somebody. Women who work at my clinic, that I do treatment with, do evaluate whether the women are lying.

Q: That is no part of your job, is to determine the truth of what they are telling you; is it?

A: That's correct.

...

Q: And which you agree with me that there are women who have accused loved ones of crimes that did not happen?

A: I am sure there are.

R. 415, l. 5 – R. 416, l. 14.

The case arose out of a long, intimate history between Appellant and Ms. Blanche. They met while living in the same apartment complex in early 2006. R. 123, ll. 1-9. Ms. Blanche was married to her second husband, but they divorced after she met Appellant. R. 123, ll. 12-17. She moved to a new residence in Hanahan and began having sex with Appellant. R. 123, ll. 18-21. Appellant eventually purchased a home in Goose Creek, and

Ms. Blanche moved in with him in late 2008 or early 2009 after he bought a ring for her. R. 124, ll. 5-16; R. 125, ll. 3-16.

Appellant and Ms. Blanche shared the master bedroom, and her ten-year old daughter, Maryssa, slept in the second bedroom. R. 62, ll. 10-14; R. 181, ll. 1-9. Appellant's daughter, the same age as Maryssa, would also stay in the house periodically. R. 126, ll. 9-15. During this time, Ms. Blanche used a cell phone Appellant arranged for her and registered in his name. R. 72, ll. 2-9.

Ms. Blanche testified that the last consensual sexual contact she had with Appellant was late 2009, shortly before she had a bladder operation. R. 63, ll. 1-12. However, she also testified that she did not stop staying in the master bedroom with Appellant until around March of 2010, when she claims she began staying in Maryssa's room. R. 62, ll. 20-25. She also admitted she never removed her clothes from the master bedroom and would dress herself in there. R. 128, ll. 15-22. She also claimed she had broken up with Appellant and only stayed in the house as a renter, but she had no proof she ever paid him rent. R. 130, ll. 11-23. She continued driving the vehicle that Appellant had purchased for her. R. 131, 1-9.

Appellant told police though that he and Ms. Blanche had "fooled around" on the Thursday night before the alleged assault on Saturday morning. R. 540, ll. 12-16. Ms. Blanche's stated that on the evening of Friday, November 5, 2010 she came home and met Appellant. R. 75, ll. 2-18. Appellant greeted her by "grabbing her butt," which led to a spat. R. 75, l. 19 – R. 76, l. 2. Appellant then left for the night, and Ms. Blanche stayed in alone. R. 77, ll. 13-19. They interacted through calls and texts on the phone into the early hours of the next morning, and in fact Ms. Blanche admitted she called Appellant over twenty times. R. 79, ll. 7 – R. 80, l. 25. Around 3:30 on Saturday morning, after Appellant had come back

home, Ms. Blanche claimed she left her room and went to Appellant's room to tell him to stop texting her and that she did not want to be intimate with him that night. R. 88, ll. 17-24. She then went back to the second bedroom, and shortly thereafter Appellant entered and came over to "his side of the bed." R. 89, ll. 3-6. She said things then "got a little verbal." R. 89, ll. 8-9.

Ms. Blanche's story was that Appellant eventually moved on top of her and groped her roughly until she asked him to stop, began crying, then screamed to get him to leave the room. R. 89, ll. 12-17. Appellant got up to leave, but then he came back to bed and pulled off her pants. R. 89, ll. 18-23. She told him to get off while "trying to hit him." R. 90, ll. 2-4.

Ms. Blanche then said that Appellant proceeded to hold her hands down, hold her body down, grope her breasts, cover her mouth, and digitally penetrate her, all in repeated succession. R. 90, ll. 6-17. She said she continued yelling at him to stop and started crying, but he penetrated her with his penis and ejaculated in her vagina. R. 90, l. 17 – R. 91, ll. 5. Appellant left the room shortly thereafter. R. 91, ll. 16-17. Ms. Blanche said she covered up a damp spot on the sheets with some clothing so she could stay in bed. R. 91, ll. 19-22.

Maryssa texted Ms. Blanche at 4:00 a.m. that morning, but Ms. Blanche did not respond. R. 178, ll. 2-17. Instead, around 5:00 a.m., she texted a friend. R. 92, ll. 1-6. Around 8:15 a.m., Ms. Blanche's niece texted her, and she responded a few minutes later. R. 180, ll. 5-24. Around 8:00 a.m., Appellant texted Ms. Blanche that he was sorry about the night before, and they continued texting throughout the day, arguing back and forth about the encounter that morning. R. 94, ll. 6-22. R. 102, ll. 15-19. Around 8:40, she left the house to prepare for a birthday party for her daughter that she had been planning. R. 92,

ll. 10-14; R. 186, ll. 4-8. After the party she went to some relative's house and then to her grandparent's house nearby. R. 274, ll. 17-25. She would later make a statement that she never went back to Appellant's house that day, but at trial she admitted she did return to the house at some point for at least a couple of hours. R. 339, ll. 4-16.

Around 10:00 p.m., Ms. Blanche said she became "pissed off" at Appellant. "I was very pissed off about the fact that it was very flip-flop. One minute, 'I am very, very sorry' and then 'here I am, out drinking with my friends like what I've done is no big deal.'" R. 96, ll. 8-25. Her phone records showed she then called Appellant twenty-eight times in a row. R. 259, ll. 5-7. At 10:48 p.m., after the twenty-eighth call, she called the police to report a sexual assault. R. 96, ll. 8-14; R. 259, ll. 18-20.

Ms. Blanche said she was "conflicted about calling 911 on someone that [she'd] had a relationship with." R. 97, ll. 5-8. On Sunday, she continued texting Appellant, and the conversations turned less argumentative—Appellant wrote affectionately to Ms. Blanche, telling her he missed and loved her and wanted her to come home. R. 104, l. 19 – R. 105, l. 10.

For the trial in the case, Ms. Blanche saved the texts to and from Appellant around the time of the incident but did not save the others. R. 182, l. 1-19. Her records showed a number of messages between the two that she did not have saved for court, but she continually denied knowing what happened to them. R. 214, ll. 13-23. Ultimately, she admitted on the stand that she erased a number of them. R. 367, ll. 4-8.

When asked why she returned on the same day to the place she alleged she was assaulted, her response was unconvincing:

Q: [Y]ou went back the same day.

A: Well, the rape didn't happen – (shouting) – everywhere else. The rape happened there, so I had to come back to that house!

Q: Why?

A: Because that's where it happened! (Witness yelling and pounding on witness stand). Do you think that I could call from someplace where it didn't happen?

R. 339, ll. 13-21.

In his closing argument, trial counsel implored the jury to look at all of the evidence and determine whether the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that any sex was not consensual. R. 663, ll. 18-22; R. 667, ll. 16-21. The court charged the jury using the bare language of the first-degree criminal sexual conduct statute:<sup>1</sup>

If you find that a sexual battery did occur, you must then decide whether the State has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant used aggravated force to accomplish the sexual battery. Aggravated force means to use physical force or physical violence of a high and aggravated nature to overcome the victim. This includes the threat of using a deadly weapon.

R. 700, ll. 8-16.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should reverse the trial court's decision to admit evidence when it is based on an abuse of discretion. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

---

<sup>1</sup> Trial counsel previously requested the trial court use a specific charge as to consent, but the court refused. R. 730.

## DISCUSSION

The trial court abused its discretion in allowing the State's psychological expert to testify because none of her testimony was helpful to the jury. "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Rule 702, SCRE. The requirement that expert testimony assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue goes primarily to relevance. *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 591 (1993) (citing *United States v. Downing*, 753 F.2d 1224, 1242 (3rd Cir. 1985) ("[A]nother aspect of relevancy—is whether expert testimony proffered in the case is sufficiently tied to the facts of the case that it will aid the jury in resolving a factual dispute.")).

**I. The psychological expert's testimony regarding domestic violence was not helpful to the jury because it was not meaningfully connected to the facts of this case.**

The psychological expert's testimony regarding domestic violence was not helpful to the jury because it was not meaningfully connected to the facts of this case. "[E]xpert opinion which is speculative, conclusory, or unsubstantiated by facts in the record is of no assistance to the jury in rendering its verdict, and therefore is inadmissible." *Coombs v. Curnow*, 219 P.3d 453, 464 (Idaho 2009); cf. *Moriarity v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 334 S.C. 150, 511. S.E.2d 699 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding under motion for summary judgment "repressed memory syndrome" is not an improper subject of expert testimony, and trial court should "evaluate the efficacy of the repressed memory syndrome **as applied to this case**" when "**the allegation of repressed**

**memory has been made and is a material issue of fact which is in dispute**” (emphasis added)); *Henry Sonneborn & Co. v. Southern Ry. Co.*, 65 S.C. 502, 44 S.E. 77 (1903) (holding testimony of expert regarding damage to clothes due to wetness was admissible although witness did not see clothes at issue because **other testimony established the clothes at issue were of the same type in which expert had specialized knowledge** (emphasis added)).

Here, the psychological expert’s testimony regarding domestic violence was factually unconnected with this case. The expert admitted she had no understanding of the facts of this case, and she did nothing more than generally survey a few possible aspects of a relationship in which some physical trauma has occurred. Further, any application of her understanding of sexual assaults and relationships involving domestic violence to the case was wholly speculative. The State adduced no other witness or other evidence or even alleged that Appellant and Ms. Blanche’s relationship was physically violent outside of the crime charged in the case, and that issue was never material or in dispute. To the contrary, the record shows Mr. Andes did anything but control or abuse her: he purchased her vehicle, registered her cell phone, and took her and her daughter into his home free of charge.

The State plainly called the expert to give the jurors grounds to speculate and patch the holes in its case. It had to contrive some explanations for how Ms. Blanche could accuse Appellant of sexual assault when the two lived together intimately and provided for one another; for why Ms. Blanche would wait nearly twenty-four hours before making a report to police and be conflicted about making that phone call; and for why she would reach out to Appellant repeatedly and remain emotionally connected with him after

the alleged assault. The testimony did not provide with any degree of reliable, factual grounds to help the jury understand and decide the case.

**II. The expert's testimony was not helpful because she conflated her psychological understanding of consent and assault with those legal concepts at issue in the trial.**

The expert's testimony was not helpful because she conflated her psychological understanding of consent and assault with those legal concepts at issue in the trial. Expert testimony is not helpful if it "merely tells the jury what result [it] should reach or [is] phrased in terms of 'inadequately explored legal criteria.'" *Moriarty v. Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 2013 WL 1143674 at \*16 (D. N.M. 2013) (quoting *U.S. v. Simpson*, 7 F.3d 186, 188 (10th Cir. 1993)). Put differently:

When an expert attempts to provide the jury with legal terms of art and conclusions, without explaining those terms or give the jury an opportunity to draw its own inferences, the expert's testimony is not "helpful" to the jury . . . because the testimony "provid[es the jury] with no independent means by which it can reach its own conclusion or give proper weight to the expert testimony."

*Id. Accord Hygh v. Jacobs*, 961 F.2d 359, 364 (2nd Cir. 1992) ("Even if a jury were not misled into adopting outright a legal conclusion proffered by an expert witness, the testimony would remain objectionable by communicating a legal standard—explicit or implicit—to the jury.")

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals addressed this problem in *U.S. v. Barile*, 286 F.3d 749 (4th Cir. 2002). Noting that expert testimony that merely states a legal conclusion or tells the jury what result to reach is not helpful and inadmissible, the court held that a trial court must distinguish legal conclusions based on "terms used by the

witness [that] have a separate, distinct and specialized meaning the law different from that present in the vernacular.” *Id.* at 760 (citations omitted).

In this case, the crime charged, criminal sexual conduct, involves an element of consent. *See, e.g., State v. Cox*, 274 S.C. 624, 266 S.E.2d 784 (1980) (holding no specific charge for consent needed in trial for second-degree criminal sexual conduct because trial court charged the language of the statute, which adequately covered the issue of consent). Consent is a legal term of art, but it also has a vernacular, everyday meaning. *See, e.g., People v. Giardino*, 98 Cal. Rptr. 2d 315, 319-20 (Ct. App. 4th Dist. 2000) (distinguishing between “actual consent” and “legal consent”). Thus, criminal sexual conduct, or sexual assault, also has a legal meaning and a vernacular meaning.

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