ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL C. ANDES,

Appellant.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-204706

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL C. ANDES,

Appellant.

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in allowing an expert to testify about rape trauma and domestic violence where such testimony was presented to disabuse the laymen jury of commonly held misconceptions about rape victims and victims of domestic violence; an expert is not required to possess knowledge about the facts of the case in which she is testifying in order to give the jury helpful background information falling within the expert's area of expertise; and the argument is not preserved for review where counsel never articulated a basis for the objection to the witness being admitted as an expert and withdrew the objection prior to the witness being qualified as an expert.

Andes claims the trial court should not have allowed expert testimony from Dr. Alyssa Rheingold. Dr. Rheingold testified as an expert in psychology and the impact of trauma in domestic violence. The expert testimony was proper to refute misconceptions about rape. Andes now advances some of these misconceptions on appeal. On several of the main points Andes advances in his brief, Andes fails to offer authority to support his legal position. Additionally, the issue is not preserved for review.

Error preservation

When the State moved to have Dr. Rheingold qualified as an expert, Andes' defense counsel made the following response: "Your Honor, she sounds like an expert but I don't know that that is what she said that she was an expert in. . . ." ROA. p. 401, lines 16-19.

The trial court suggested defense counsel could pursue voir dire with Dr. Rheingold, but defense counsel declined, claiming: "No, let's go ahead. She sounds like an expert to me." ROA. p 401, lines 20-24.

The issue of the propriety of expert testimony is not preserved. On point is State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) where the appellant claimed error in the admission of rape trauma evidence. The Supreme Court noted no exception was made to the expert's qualifications and found the issue was not properly before it. Id., 312 S.C. at 505, 435 S.E.2d at 861. As will be discussed in more detail later, the Supreme Court found that expert testimony on rape trauma was admissible to prove a rape occurred.

Further, it is apodictic that an issue conceded to the trial court is not preserved for review. State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000); see Lindsay v. Lindsay, 328 S.C. 329, 491 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a trial judge if offended party does not challenge that ruling; failure to challenge ruling is abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal; unchallenged ruling is law of the case and requires affirmance). "An objection withdrawn at trial constitutes an express waiver of the issue and does not preserve the issue for appellate review." Ligon v. Norris, 371 S.C. 625, 634, 640 S.E.2d 469, 472 (Ct. App. 2006).

No objection was made to the subject matter of the expert testimony, or based on a claim of vouching, or on the basis that Dr. Rheingold was unfamiliar with the facts of the case. Indeed, the only objections were based on relevance.

Andes objected on the grounds of relevance when the prosecution asked Dr. Rheingold: "How common is domestic violence in our society?" ROA. p. 402, lines 8-24. Andes objected to the relevance of the next question about the effect of economic dependence on reporting. ROA. p. 403, lines 5-16. Andes had a leading objection sustained. ROA. p. 412. Then Andes' last objection was to the relevance of the

prosecution's question: "Is it unusual for a perpetrator to contact [the] victim, even after a rape?" ROA. p. 412, lines 14-25. These isolated objections on relevance fail to preserve for review the issues raised in this brief. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (to preserve for review an alleged error in admitting evidence, the objection must sufficiently bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so the error may be understood by the trial judge. The party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal). The ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999).

In the instant case, these isolated relevance objections are insufficient to raise broader issues of the propriety of the subject of expertise or a claim that an expert witness must know facts about the case before the expert testifies, even if the testimony is background information. Accordingly, the issues are not preserved for this Court's review.

Relevance

The actual objections from trial are not meaningfully advanced now on appeal. However, each question sought relevant background information about victims of domestic abuse and rape, as Victim was subjected to prolonged domestic violence and control and was the victim of a brutal rape. Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The

appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives **great deference** to the trial court." (emphasis added)). "The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion." State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). Thus, a trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence will be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003). "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Andes concedes that Dr. Rheingold was called as a witness "to explain the curious behavior of [Victim], who was making an accusation of sexual assault." Brief of Appellant, p. 5. Andes remonstrates that "the State had to provide answers to a number of glaring questions in its theory, like how could [Victim] accuse Appellant of sexual assault when the two plainly had a long, intimate history together?" *Id.* Andes' proposed anachronistic viewpoint -- rapes do not occur in longstanding intimate relationships -- is exactly the reason testimony presented in the instant case is allowable in this state and most of the country.¹

Minnesota's Supreme Court noted the following about the admissibility of

¹ Dr. Rheingold's testimony directly refutes this point, when she notes that most assaults are by someone the victim knows rather than the stereotype of someone being pulled into the bushes. ROA. p. 404.

testimony designed to dispel rape myths and counterintuitive rape-victim behaviors:

Rape myths are “prejudicial, stereotyped, or false beliefs about rape, rape victims, and rapists.” Amy M. Buddie & Arthur G. Miller, *Beyond Rape Myths: A More Complex View of Perceptions of Rape Victims*, 45 *Sex Roles* 139-40 (2001) (citation omitted). Typical rape-victim behaviors are common behaviors and mental reactions social scientists repeatedly observe in rape victims, such as delayed reporting, lack of physical injuries, or the failure to fight aggressively against the attacker, that are contrary to society’s expectations of how a person who was sexually assaulted would behave. . . .

Unlike the experts in Saldana, the State’s experts in this case will not testify about the purported stages of rape trauma syndrome or opine that M.B. suffers from the syndrome. Instead, the State attempted to offer evidence of typical rape-victim behaviors to dispel commonly-held rape myths that the jury might rely on in evaluating the evidence in the case.

Our most recent case law has recognized that such expert opinion testimony on the typical behaviors of victims of similar crimes may be helpful to the jury. Specifically, we have allowed expert witnesses to educate jurors about battered woman syndrome (BWS). In State v. Hennum, we found that expert testimony on BWS “would help to explain a phenomenon not within the understanding of an ordinary lay person.” 441 N.W.2d 793, 798 (Minn. 1989). Specifically, we noted that educating the jury about BWS would “dispel the common misconception that a normal or reasonable person would not remain in such an abusive relationship” and “show the reasonableness of the defendant’s fear that she was in imminent peril of death or serious bodily injury.” In State v. Grecinger, the State sought to admit expert testimony about BWS as an explanation for the complainant’s three-year delay in reporting an incident of domestic abuse. 569 N.W.2d 189, 192-93 (Minn. 1997). We again concluded “expert testimony on battered woman syndrome would help the jury to understand the behavior of a woman suffering from the syndrome, which might otherwise be interpreted as a lack of credibility.” *Id.* at 195 (emphasis added). As such, expert testimony on BWS was “necessary to explain the complexity of [complainant]’s behavior and the reasons for her behavior.” *Id.*; see also State v. MacLennan, 702

N.W.2d 219, 234 (Minn. 2005) (holding that expert testimony on battered child syndrome “may help to explain a phenomenon not within the understanding of an ordinary lay person” and “would be helpful to jurors struggling to discern whether elements of charged crimes have been met”).

State v. Obeta, 796 N.W.2d 282, 290-91 (Minn. 2011).

The Minnesota Supreme Court acknowledged its opinion was effectively removing it from an extreme minority that would not allow such testimony when it observed the following:

[W]e note that a majority of state appellate courts that have considered this issue have allowed some form of expert-opinion evidence that describes typical counterintuitive behaviors exhibited by adult victims of sexual assault. Our research reveals that only Minnesota and Pennsylvania categorically prohibit expert testimony of this nature.

Id. at 292-93 (footnotes omitted). Accordingly, the expert testimony was relevant and the trial court did not err in allowing the testimony.

Expert witnesses may provide helpful background information without knowledge or testimony about the facts of the case.

Andes complains that Dr. Rheingold should not have been allowed to testify because she did not know the facts of the case. However, there is no requirement for an expert to know the facts of a case when she is providing helpful background behavioral testimony. “The fact that the expert does not personally interview the victim bears on the weight of the behavioral evidence and not on its admissibility.” State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 475, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted) see State v. Kaufman, 931 N.E.2d 143, 170 (Ohio Ct. App. 2010) (“[Rule 703] does not require that [an expert] testify on the facts specific to the case. . . . [A]n expert witness is allowed to

testify about general background information that might assist the fact-finder. . . . The Rules of Evidence do not require that an expert witness provide a factual link between his general testimony and the specific facts of a case.” (citations omitted)); Coble v. State, 330 S.W.3d 253 (Tx. Crim. App. 2010) (finding expert testimony about Texas prison classification system and violence in prison was admissible despite claim that the testimony did not relate to appellant personally; testimony was relevant as admissible rebuttal “educator-expert” evidence); State v. White, 943 P.2d 544, 546 (N.M. Ct. App. 1997) (noting that although expert had not examined child, an expert opinion may be helpful and admissible by conveying general knowledge without reference to alleged specific facts of the case). The Nebraska Supreme Court observed the following:

The reasoning for a rule allowing an expert to testify about sexual abuse in generalities, **without being familiar with the alleged victim**, is that few jurors have sufficient familiarity with child sexual abuse to understand the dynamics of a sexually abusive relationship, and the behavior exhibited by sexually abused children is often contrary to what most adults would expect.

State v. Roenfeldt, 486 N.W.2d 197, 204 (Neb. 1992) (emphasis added, citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Further, Andes falsely complains the charged conduct was the only instance of domestic violence, so the behavioral evidence concerning victims of domestic violence is irrelevant.² Andes overlooks Victim’s testimony that is replete with the abusive and controlling nature of the relationship between Andes and Victim. Victim noted the relationship turned physical within the first year of the relationship. ROA. p. 61. She

² Andes mistakenly claims: “The State adduced no other witness or other evidence or even alleged that appellant and [Victim’s] relationship was physically violent outside of the crime charged in the case, and that issue was never material or in dispute.” Brief of Appellant, p. 13.

explained that she ended the romantic relationship, but could not move out because she was unemployed at the time. ROA. p. 69. Victim explained the difficult financial situation she was in and testified that Andes helped her buy a car because she had bad credit at the time. ROA. pp. 70-71. Victim gave most of her unemployment benefits to Andes as rent. Her cell phone was in Andes' name. ROA. p. 72. She was in the process of trying to leave when the brutal rape occurred. Victim testified that when she discussed leaving with Andes, the conversation turned violent. ROA. p. 73-74. Andes' controlling nature is exposed by his threats to take the birthday cake Victim bought for her daughter's tenth birthday. ROA. p. 81.

Most, if not all, aspects of Dr. Rheingold's testimony were relevant toward explaining what Andes suggested was counterintuitive conduct by Victim during and after the incident. For instance, Victim did not report the abuse until the evening of the following day. Additionally, Victim and Andes exchanged text communications with each other. Finally, Andes seems to assert some antiquated concept about whether rape is likely to occur within an intimate relationship.³

Dr. Rheingold testified it was not uncommon for victims of domestic assaults to not report the assault to law enforcement immediately. She explained the victims may need time to process what has happened. They may also be in contact with the perpetrator to make sense of what the perpetrator did to them. ROA. pp. 406-413. This testimony relates directly to the facts of this case and is useful to the jury to explain what may initially appear to be counterintuitive behavior by Victim.

Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion

³ Disturbingly, Andes makes this same assertion twice in his brief. Brief of Appellant, p. 5, pp. 13-14.

of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives **great deference** to the trial court." (emphasis added)).

"The admission or exclusion of expert testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court." Burroughs v. Worsham, 352 S.C. 382, 390, 574 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2002). "A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion." State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006).

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in admitting the expert testimony merely because the expert did not have specific knowledge of the facts of the case. The testimony was useful background information used to dispel misconceptions about rape and domestic violence victims and has been accepted in nearly all jurisdictions for decades.

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